STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the trial court committed plain error when it decided plaintiffs' motion to enforce settlement before determining whether plaintiffs' claims were properly before the court.
- II. Whether the trial court erred when it decided disputed factual issues in granting plaintiffs' motion to enforce settlement which was in essence a grant of summary judgment.
- III. Alternatively, whether the trial court's enforcement of the purported settlement agreement was clearly erroneous and constitutes an abuse of discretion.
- IV. Alternatively, whether Illinois Central was erroneously denied discovery (1) related to the unreliable B-reads tendered by plaintiffs in support of their claims; and (2) related to the effect of prior occupational releases on plaintiffs' current claims.
- V. In the alternative, whether the "settlement agreement" was unenforceable under the Mississippi statute of frauds.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings, and its Disposition Below

The original action was brought by 216 former employees of Illinois Central Railroad Company ("Illinois Central," Appellant herein) in the Circuit Court of Holmes County, Mississippi, on December 19, 2002. (R. 7 – 22; R.E. 147 – 162). The former employees asserted claims under the Federal Employers' Liability Act (FELA) for various personal injuries allegedly caused by their occupational exposure to asbestos. (*Id.*). Illinois Central was the sole defendant in the case. (R. 7; R.E. 147). Illinois Central timely answered the complaint, including objections to, *inter alia*, the improper mass joinder and improper venue of the plaintiffs' claims. (R. 36 – 43).

On January 23, 2004, plaintiffs' counsel Robert Peirce ("Peirce") met with Illinois Central's counsel Thomas Peters ("Peters") in Peirce's Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania office to discuss multiple issues including the possible settlement of plaintiffs' claims in the instant case. ("Pittsburgh meeting"). (R. 521; R.E. 172). The substance of the Pittsburgh meeting – whether the parties entered into a binding settlement agreement or agreed only to a conditional settlement process – is contested by the parties. (R. 511 – 514; R.E. 168 – 171; R. 521 – 525; R.E. 172 – 176). After the meeting, IC agreed to settle all but 34 of the 216 claims. (R. 524; R.E. 175). On June 23, 2006, plaintiffs' counsel filed a pleading captioned "Motion for Enforcement of Settlement" on behalf of 25 of the remaining 34 plaintiffs. (R. 70 – 228; R.E. 70 – 73). Plaintiffs' counsel argued that the parties entered into a binding settlement agreement at the Pittsburgh meeting by which all claims were settled. (R. 71; R.E. 164). Plaintiffs asked the

¹ Plaintiffs' counsel originally filed the "Motion to Enforce Settlement" on December 20, 2004, but withdrew the motion on September 15, 2005 to pursue the claim in another forum before any further action was taken. (R. 52; R. 65). The plaintiffs filed a petition to enforce settlement in a Pennsylvania court, but the court dismissed the claim for lack of jurisdiction. (R. 72).

court to enforce that agreement and to order Illinois Central to pay the 25 plaintiffs' claims. (Id.).²

Illinois Central timely responded in opposition to plaintiffs' motion to enforce and simultaneously filed a motion to sever and dismiss the remaining 34 plaintiffs' claims due to improper joinder and venue. (R. 278 – 307; R.E. 187 – 192; R. 308 – 483; R.E. 193 - 208). The remaining plaintiffs lacked a distinct litigable event to connect their claims and to warrant joinder under Mississippi law. (R. 278 – 307; R.E. 187 – 192). Furthermore, of the 25 remaining plaintiffs included in the motion to enforce, only eight (8) claimed residency in Mississippi at the time of the filing of the complaint. (R. 13 – 22; R.E. 153 – 162). Illinois Central asked the court to sever the remaining plaintiffs' claims and dismiss those plaintiffs who had improperly filed suit in Holmes County. (R. 279; R.E. 188). Illinois Central argued that the court should decide the motion to sever and dismiss *first* – because the remaining plaintiffs' claims were improperly before the court, the court lacked jurisdiction to decide their motion to enforce. (R. 308; R.E. 193; Nov. 6, 2006 Hrg. Transcr. 15:5-9, 39:4-11; Sept. 27, 2007 Hrg. Transcr. 21:1-7). Illinois Central further objected to the court deciding the disputed factual issues surrounding the purported "settlement agreement" and the Pittsburgh meeting. (R. 309 n. 2; R.E. 194; Nov. 6, 2006 Hrg. Transcr. 24:4-19, 66:6-13).

Alternatively, Illinois Central argued that the remaining plaintiffs' claims were not settled. (R. 309 – 322; R.E. 194 – 207). Illinois Central contended that at the Pittsburgh meeting the parties agreed only to engage in a conditional settlement process by which plaintiffs' claims would be settled on a case-by-case basis *if* certain criteria were met. (R. 309; R.E. 194; R. 521 – 525; R.E. 172 – 176; Nov. 6, 2006 Hrg. Transcr. 19:16-20:2). It is undisputed that each plaintiff

While there are 28 plaintiffs listed in the motion, the trial court's final order pertains to 25 plaintiffs. (R. 1883; R.E. 9).

³ The transcripts for the November 6, 2006 and September 27, 2007 hearings are included in the Appellant's Record Excerpts, Tabs 6 and 7 respectively (R.E. 15 – 146).

wishing to settle his or her claim was required to submit a completed and signed questionnaire, a B-read by a qualified and competent B-reader⁴ with a profusion of 1/0 or greater, and proof of employment with Illinois Central. (R. 523; R.E. 174; Nov. 6, 2006 Hrg. Transcr. 15:13-16:2, 47:2-48:19). In addition, Illinois Central expressly and unconditionally excluded two specific types of claims from the settlement process: (1) claims of plaintiffs who had executed a prior occupational release in favor of Illinois Central, and (2) plaintiffs' claims that suffered from statute of limitations problems. (R. 521 – 522; R.E. 172 – 173; Nov. 6, 2006 Hrg. Transcr. 17:4-9; Sept. 7, 2007 Hrg. Transcr. 34:25-35:2, 37:19-27). The remaining 25 plaintiffs seeking enforcement, Illinois Central contended, had failed to meet one or more of the conditions precedent and/or involved one of the excluded claim types. Illinois Central, therefore, was under no obligation to settle those claims. (R. 525; R.E. 176).

The court heard oral arguments on the motion to enforce and the motion to sever and dismiss, and on November 17, 2006, the Honorable Robert L. Goza, Jr. entered an interim order severing and dismissing only the claims of the nine plaintiffs who were not subject to the motion to enforce. (R. 535; R.E. 14). The court entered a second order that same day stating that the remaining 25 plaintiffs' claims were settled, rejecting Illinois Central's contention that the parties agreed only to a conditional settlement process, and making specific factual findings as to the terms of the settlement agreement. (R. 533 – 534; R.E. 12 – 13). In particular, the court found that there was no agreement to exclude from the settlement process plaintiffs with prior occupational releases and statute of limitations problems. (*Id.*). The court did, however, recognize that the credibility of Dr. Ray Harron, the doctor who authored the remaining

⁴ A "B-reader" is a doctor certified by the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health to identify the presence of asbestos- and silica-related disease precursors on chest x-rays. *See Choctaw, Inc. v. Campbell-Cherry-Harrison-Davis and Cove*, 965 So. 2d 1041, 1047 n. 10 (Miss. 2007).

plaintiffs' B-reads, had been seriously compromised due to developments in related litigation.⁵ (Sept. 7, 2007 Hrg. Transcr. 48:26:-49:6). The court consequently ordered the 25 remaining plaintiffs to submit to Illinois Central new B-reads by a competent and credible B-reader. (R. 534; R.E. 13).

In response to the court's order, the remaining plaintiffs submitted a second B-read to Illinois Central. These B-reads were authored by one of three litigation screening doctors – Dr. Donald Breyer of California, Dr. Robert Mezey of Florida, and Dr. James Krainson of Florida. (Sept. 27, 2007 Hrg. Transcr. 18:16-27). Illinois Central believed that the second B-reads suffered from the same credibility problems as the first and propounded a targeted set of discovery to the remaining plaintiffs directed at discovering the methodology and procedure employed by these doctors. (R. 554 – 560; Sept. 27, 2007 Hrg. Transcr. 43:12-16). Each plaintiff responded with identical objections and refused to provide Illinois Central with even the most basic information regarding the "new" B-reads. (R. 653 – 667). Since the remaining plaintiffs had yet to comply with the conditions precedent to settlement, Illinois Central was under no obligation to settle those claims.

On September 11, 2007, the remaining plaintiffs filed yet another motion styled "Motion for Enforcement of Settlement." (R. 930 - 935; R.E. 214 - 219). The court held a hearing on the motion to enforce as well as other related motions. On September 26, 2008, the trial court entered an order containing its findings and conclusions, which are the subject of this appeal. (R.

⁵ Illinois Central's concerns were founded in Dr. Harron's admissions made throughout proceedings held in *In re Silica Prod. Liability Litigation*, No. MDL 1553, 398 F. Supp. 2d 563, 604 (S.D. Tex. June 30, 2005) and the extensive evidentiary record presented and the findings made in that litigation. These concerns were further amplified by subsequent actions by courts and bankruptcy settlement trusts in response to the information disclosed in MDL 1553, as well as by grand jury proceedings inquiring into Dr. Harron's conduct, a congressional investigation of that conduct, and the subsequent activities of Dr. Harron and others who have repeatedly invoked their Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination when questioned about their litigation screening practices. (R. 310 – 320; R.E. 195 – 205).

1879 – 1884; R.E. 5 – 10). The trial court found that the remaining plaintiffs had "fully complied with the conditions precedent to payment," that their claims were settled, and that they were awarded specific monetary judgments listed in the order. (*Id.*) Illinois Central filed a motion to amend the judgment and findings of the trial court, but, on December 11, 2008, the court denied the motion. (R. 1885; R.E. 227; R. 1907; R.E. 11). Illinois Central timely filed its notice of appeal on January 9, 2009. (R. 1908).

II. Statement of the Facts Relevant for the Issues on Review

This case originally involved the FELA claims of 216 former Illinois Central employees for various personal injuries allegedly caused by occupational exposure to asbestos. (R. 7-22; R.E. 147-162). The claims of the 216 plaintiffs were joined in one suit filed in Holmes County, Mississippi on December 19, 2002. (*Id.*). The plaintiffs included both in-state and out-of-state residents, some having no connection whatsoever to Holmes County or Mississippi. (*Id.*). Illinois Central timely objected to the misjoinder and improper venue of the claims in its answer to the plaintiffs' complaint. (R. 36-43). After Illinois Central filed its answer, the case remained dormant until counsel for plaintiffs and counsel for Illinois Central agreed to meet in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania on January 23, 2004 to discuss resolving the claims. (*See generally* R. 3; R.E. 1).

The Pittsburgh meeting is the focal point of numerous disputed issues of material fact. The only two people present for most of the meeting were Thomas Peters, counsel for Illinois Central, and Robert Peirce, counsel for plaintiffs. (R. 521; R.E. 172; R. 981; R.E. 177; Nov. 6, 2006 Hrg. Transcr. 46:9-13). Despite the fact that no written agreement exists, plaintiffs claim

⁶ These individuals are: Gary R. Byrd; Robert Bowden; William L. Cook; John Curlin; Lyle N. Ernest; George A. Fouse; Gary A. Frederickson; Franklin D. Gossum; Q.B. Gray; John Ed Howell; Willie Johnston; Gary Jolly; E.J. Ledbetter, Jr; Bobby Lessel, Sr.; Thomas G. Mudd; Jerry C. McKissack; Lyle McMannis; Ronald E. Miller; Ted E. Morrison; Charles Payne; Robert D. Payne; Kenneth Rounders; Fred L. Rogers, Jr.; Billy Wayne Sims; and William J. Taylor. (R. 1883; R.E. 9).

that the parties entered into a binding settlement agreement at the meeting and that Illinois Central agreed to settle all 216 of the plaintiffs' claims. (Nov. 6, 2006 Hrg. Transcr. 6:1-7:2). Peters and Peirce have provided affidavits describing contrary versions of the conversations they had during the meeting and of the agreements, if any, they made. (R. 511 – 514; R.E. 168 – 171; R. 521 – 525; R.E. 172 – 176; R. 974 – 975; R.E. 182 – 183; R. 981 – 985; R.E. 177 – 181).

At the Pittsburgh meeting, Peters specifically advised Peirce that Illinois Central would not settle any of the claims of plaintiffs with prior occupational releases, regardless of the type of release or when it was executed. (R. 521; R.E. 172). Although Peirce suggested that the two discuss settlement of claims involving prior occupational releases and consider submitting the question (of whether the prior releases barred plaintiffs' claims) to the court to decide, Peters advised Peirce that he did not have authority to agree to such a submission. (R. 522; R.E. 173). Peters also advised Peirce that Illinois Central would not settle claims that were potentially barred by the statute of limitations. (Id.).

As part of Illinois Central's conditional offer to plaintiffs who qualified under these terms and conditions, each claimant was required to provide a completed and signed questionnaire, a B-read by a qualified B-reader with a profusion of 1/0 or greater, and proof of employment via a standard report from the Railroad Retirement Board. (R. 523; R.E. 174; Nov. 6, 2006 Hrg. Transcr. 15:13-16:2, 47:2-48:19). Peters and Peirce did not discuss specific monetary amounts for each plaintiff (except for a handful of cases described by Peters in his affidavit which are irrelevant to the instant appeal.) (R. 521 – 524; R.E. 172 – 176; R. 995; R.E. 184). Rather, Peirce proposed the concept of average settlement amounts. (R. 523; R.E. 174; R. 995; R.E. 184). After further negotiations, Peters agreed on behalf of Illinois Central to pay an average of \$18,100.00 to the non-Mississippi plaintiffs and \$27,000.00 to the Mississippi plaintiffs, as long

as the plaintiffs did not have prior occupational releases or statute of limitations issues and submitted the requisite documentation. (*Id.*).

Peirce indicated that he had to contact the individual plaintiffs and determine the extent of his authority, i.e., the amount to which each individual plaintiff would agree which would satisfy the averages discussed by Peters and Peirce. (R. 523; R.E. 174; R. 996; R.E. 185). After the meeting, in mid to late February of 2004, having had no further communication with plaintiffs' counsel, Peters began receiving boxes of unilaterally executed releases from the plaintiffs. (R. 524; R.E. 175; R. 995; R.E. 184). Peters began processing the claims with Illinois Central personnel and seeking approval from Illinois Central to settle specific plaintiffs' claims. (R. 524; R.E. 175). Through this process, Illinois Central settled approximately 180 claims. (R. 512; R.E. 169). Illinois Central declined, however, to settle the claims of the remaining 34 plaintiffs because they failed to meet one or more of the terms and conditions of the settlement procedure, i.e., submission of required documentation and/or existence of prior occupational release or statute of limitations problems. (R. 525; R.E. 176).

Ultimately, 25 of the remaining 34 plaintiffs moved to enforce a "settlement agreement" that they claimed they entered into with Illinois Central at the Pittsburgh meeting. (R. 1883; R.E. 9). The court ruled in favor of the remaining 25 plaintiffs over Illinois Central's objections (1) that the court lacked jurisdiction to decide the motion to enforce because the joinder and venue of the remaining plaintiffs' claims was improper; (2) that the trial court lacked authority to decide disputed issues of material fact regarding the existence and terms of the purported settlement agreement; and (3) that, alternatively, the plaintiffs' claims were not settled because of their failure to meet the conditions precedent to settlement. (R. 533 - 534; R.E. 12 - 13; R. 1879 - 1884; R.E. 5 - 10). The trial court made numerous factual findings, based solely on the arguments of counsel without the benefit of an evidentiary hearing, regarding the Pittsburgh

meeting, the parties' intentions to settle the case, the terms and conditions of the purported settlement agreement, and the remaining plaintiffs' compliance with those terms and conditions. (Id.). The court ordered Illinois Central to pay the remaining 25 plaintiffs' claims, and it is from this order that Illinois Central brings the instant appeal. (R. 1879 - 1884; R.E. 5 - 10).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court committed plain error in ruling on the plaintiffs' "Motion for Enforcement of Settlement" prior to resolving threshold jurisdictional questions raised by Illinois Central in its motion to sever and dismiss. Over 200 in-state and out-of-state plaintiffs were improperly joined in the same suit in Holmes County, Mississippi. Plaintiffs' complaint failed to properly allege a "distinct litigable event" or to otherwise provide information sufficient to justify the mass joinder of the plaintiffs' claims. Furthermore, the complaint wholly lacked any factual detail by which Illinois Central or the court could determine whether venue was proper in Mississippi, much less in Holmes County. The trial court never reached the merits of Illinois Central's motion to sever and dismiss, but, instead, summarily ordered that the plaintiffs' claims were settled. The trial court's failure to first determine whether the plaintiffs' claims were properly before the court was plain error.

Assuming the trial court had jurisdiction to rule on the plaintiffs' motion to enforce, it nonetheless abused its discretion when it decided material, disputed issues of fact over the repeated objections of Illinois Central. The parties disputed (and swore to differing versions of) nearly every aspect of the "settlement." Plaintiffs' motion to enforce settlement was in essence a motion for summary judgment, and, therefore, should have been decided under Rule 56. Yet, the trial court decided numerous, disputed factual issues including (1) the existence of a settlement agreement; (2) the terms and conditions of the settlement; and (3) the plaintiffs' compliance with those terms and conditions. At the very least, Illinois Central was entitled to an evidentiary

hearing to fully develop a record for its position that the claims of the remaining plaintiffs were not settled. Additionally, Illinois Central was erroneously denied discovery regarding essential factual matters concerning the circumstances surrounding the "settlement."

Assuming that the trial court had jurisdiction to entertain plaintiffs' motion to enforce settlement and further assuming that it was within the province of the trial judge to determine disputed issues of material fact, the trial judge's decision to enforce settlement was nonetheless erroneous. The plaintiffs failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there was a meeting of the minds as to the existence of the oral agreement and the terms and conditions thereof. Illinois Central expressly and unequivocally excluded from the settlement process those plaintiffs who had executed prior occupational releases in favor of Illinois Central and those plaintiffs who had statute of limitations issues. The trial court's analysis of the merits of Illinois Central's exclusion of such plaintiffs under *McDaniel* was therefore irrelevant to the inquiry regarding the existence of a settlement agreement and its terms and conditions. Furthermore, assuming the *McDaniel* case was relevant, the trial court's analysis was nonetheless improper.

Alternatively, in the event that the validity or effect of prior occupational releases was properly before the trial court, it abused its discretion in denying Illinois Central discovery regarding whether a plaintiff was aware of his prior asbestos-related claim at the time he executed his prior occupational release. The trial court also erroneously denied Illinois Central's motion to compel discovery regarding plaintiffs' compliance with what the trial court determined to be terms and conditions of the settlement process.

Alternatively, any purported settlement agreement is unenforceable for failure to satisfy the Mississippi statute of frauds. It is undisputed that no written agreement exists. Additionally, the plaintiffs adopted continually shifting positions as to the date of the alleged settlement agreement and the terms and conditions of the purported agreement, and thus failed to demonstrate that performance under the agreement could occur within fifteen months.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

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