IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2009-CA-00065

ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD COMPANY

Defendant/Appellant

vs.

GARY R. BYRD, et al.

Plaintiffs/Appellees

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

1.

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

ICRC, in this appeal, has endeavored to turn the attention away from what really happened on January 23, 2004. They are attempting to raise issues that were never raised prior to the settlement of the cases. Such arguments – improper venue, release language, Statute of

3

Frauds – should be considered waived and have no effect on the instant appeal. In the event this Court visits the merits of those arguments, they should also fail.

In the end, ICRC paid 180 of the original 216 plaintiffs, and for various and sundry unrelated reasons, decided not to pay the remaining plaintiffs. Whether their reasoning was founded on buyer's remorse or upon the purchase of ICRC by Canadian National Railroad, it is flawed and improper.

Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement, granted in the trial court below, should be given full effect and the trial court's decision to enforce settlement for 27 plaintiffs should be upheld. (R.E. 5-10)

ί.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not lack jurisdiction to adjudicate plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement. To the contrary, plaintiffs' claims were properly joined and were properly brought in Holmes County.

a. Standard of Review

The standard of review for a trial court's decision on joinder and venue is abuse of discretion. <u>Mississippi Farm Bureau Federation v. Roberts</u>, 927 So.2d 739, 741 (Miss.2006); <u>The Park on Lakeland Drive, Inc. v. Spence</u>, 941 So.2d 203, 206 (Miss.2006). Therefore, a trial court's decision on proper joinder and proper venue should not be disturbed but for such abuse of discretion. <u>Id.</u>

b. The trial court acted properly when it decided the merits of plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement before determining the issue of whether plaintiffs' claims were properly before the court.

As the trial court stated at the November 6, 2006 hearing on this matter, "[i]f there is an enforceable settlement, then there is nothing to transfer and sever, you see." (R.E. 17) If there was no settlement, as a threshold issue, there is no reason to determine the propriety of the plaintiffs' claims related to joinder and venue.

Improper venue is an affirmative defense. While ICRC did generally raise improper venue and improper joinder in its Answer to Plaintiffs' Complaint, it failed to reach the merits, and failed to pursue a dismissal due to improper venue and joinder until after the cases were settled, or at least until after the settlement negotiations had occurred and this litigation ensued. (R. 36-43) ICRC filed an Answer to Plaintiffs' Complaint on January 24, 2003. (R.E. 1, R.36-43) ICRC's claims of improper joinder and improper venue should have been made at an earlier juncture – following its Answer to Plaintiffs' Complaint, and not when it attempted to get out from under a large number of settlements it had no interest in paying. Further, Mr. Peters has

admitted consistently throughout this litigation that ICRC was willing to pay different amounts for Mississippi and non-Mississippi residents, an admission that ICRC had no problem settling a case with a non-resident plaintiff. (R.E. 174, R.E. 182). Most importantly, out of the 180 cases that have been paid from the original filing, 121 of the 180 plaintiffs were non-Mississippi residents. (R.E. 153-162). ICRC's willingness to pay cases from this original filing, irrespective of venue and joinder, illustrates ICRC's obstreperous and obstructive behavior surrounding these settlements, and goes to prove that ICRC has decided on a whim to withhold payment and/or had no basis to withhold payment for the remaining plaintiffs. Accordingly, ICRC's complaints of improper venue and joinder are waived, and should not be heard at this juncture.

Alternatively, should this Court wish to decide the merits of the venue issue, "[v]enue is a function of statute." <u>Park on Lakeland Drive</u>, 941 So.2d at 206, <u>citing Flight Line</u>, Inc. v. <u>Tanksley</u>, 608 So.2d 1149, 1155 (Miss.1992). At the time of the filing of this initial lawsuit, the venue statute in Mississippi, Miss.Code Ann. Section 11-11-3 read: "[c]ivil actions of which the circuit court has original jurisdiction shall be commenced in the county in which the defendant resides or in the county where the alleged act or omission occurred or where the event that caused the injury occurred." <u>Miss. Code Ann. Section 11-11-3 (2002</u>). Therefore, according to the elder venue statute in place at the time of the filing in 2002 venue was proper in a county were "the defendant resides." It is well-known that ICRC has track in Holmes County, passing through Durant, a city situated in Holmes County. <u>See http://cnebusiness.geomapguide.ca</u>. Therefore, regardless of the plaintiffs' residences, the defendant, ICRC, resided in Holmes County, making venue proper there in 2002.

In light of the foregoing, the trial court's decision to decide the threshold issue of settlement should be upheld and the trial court's denial of defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Sever should similarly be upheld.

II. The trial court acted properly, and did not abuse its discretion, when it decided disputed, material factual issues over Illinois Central's objections

a. Standard of Review

A review of the trial court's decision on disputed issues of fact should not be overturned but for an abuse of discretion. <u>Howard v. Totalfina E&P USA</u>, 899 So.2d 882 (Miss.2005). The circuit court's decisions are given the same deference as that of a chancellor. <u>Id.</u>

> b. Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement should not be considered a Motion for Summary Judgment under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56 because the trial court was within its discretion to decide issues of fact. Therefore, the trial court did not err when it decided disputed issues of fact related to the existence of the settlement agreement without an evidentiary hearing.

ICRC alleges that plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement should have been treated as a

Motion for Summary Judgment under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56. This allegation is

incorrect and procedurally defective.

ICRC cites to Ammons v. Cordova Floors, Inc., 904 So.2d 185, 190 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005)

in support of its contention that Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement should be characterized

as a Motion for Summary Judgment. In its citation of this case, ICRC fails to provide the true

holding of Ammons. In order for a Motion to Enforce Settlement to be treated as a Motion for

Summary Judgment under Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, the parties must

instruct the trial court that the Motion should be treated as such. The Ammons court instructs:

"Neither party informed the trial court, either at the hearing or on motion to reconsider, that the motion was governed by Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and that, under that rule, the trial court was not entitled to rule on the disputed issue of fact. We find that the Ammons' failure to object to the procedure employed by the circuit court and their arguing the conflicting affidavits on the merits rather than as a procedural limitation on the circuit judge's authority to rule, waived any objection to the trial court's deciding the disputed issue. Therefore, we decline to hold the trial judge in error and review his findings under the same deferential standard accorded those of a chancellor."

Ammons, 904 So.2d at 190. (Emphasis added).

At no time during either the November 6, 2006 or the September 27, 2007 hearings, or in any of the pleadings, did counsel for ICRC indicate a desire to style plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement as a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R.E. 15-71, 72-146). Oral arguments were held on two occasions, as mentioned above, and various attorneys for both parties attended. No one present at these hearings expressed a desire to have the Motions heard as Motions for Summary Judgment, and likewise, no one present at these hearings took umbrage with the trial court's ability to sit as "chancellor" and decide issues of fact.

Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement, originally filed on June 23, 2006, operated as a method to ensure that the plaintiffs who settled their cases and signed releases would be paid. (R.E. 163-167) On one hand, ICRC complains that the trial court should have been sitting as the factfinder and should have held additional evidentiary hearings and/or what it considers a "plenary hearing." <u>Autera v. Robinson</u>, 419 F.2d 1197 (D.C. Cir.1969). But, on the other hand, ICRC complains that the trial court should not have decided facts at issue because there was no stipulation to grant the circuit court such authority. <u>See</u> Appellant's Brief, p. 14-20. ICRC cannot cling to this contradictory argument in support of its position. Plainly and simply, the remaining plaintiffs should be paid settlement monies in due course, as the trial court was well within its authority to decide disputed issues of fact.

In addition, Illinois Central was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing o the disputed issues of fact related to the existence of the settlement agreement. ICRC relies upon an insignificant piece of dicta in the dissenting opinion from <u>Gulfport Pilots Association, Inc. v.</u> <u>Kopszywa</u>, 743 So.2d 1036 (Miss. 1999) in support of its contention that the trial court should

have held an evidentiary hearing about the disputed issues of fact that are the subject of this appeal. Such a reliance is misplaced and improper.

The facts of the <u>Gulfport Pilots</u> case deal with a Motion for Enforcement of Settlement under the Jones Act. While it may seem that the facts should be analogous to the instant matter, they are in fact distinct and do not provide support for ICRC's argument. In <u>Gulfport Pilots</u>, a dispute arose over an agreed-to settlement between plaintiff and his employer, the defendant, which then prompted the plaintiff/appellee to file a Motion to Enforce Settlement. Insolvency issues plagued the defendant's insurance carrier, which caused impediments to payment of the settlement funds. The trial court found that a meeting of the minds occurred, and rendered an opinion declaring that the plaintiff must be paid the settlement funds, regardless of where the money comes from. The defendant appealed, and the Supreme Court of Mississippi affirmed.

First, ICRC's reliance on this case is misplaced. <u>Gulfport Pilots</u> is factually dissimilar in that it deals with an insolvent insurance carrier and its obligation to the plaintiff following a settlement and following its decree of insolvency. <u>Gulfport Pilots</u>, 743 So.2d at 1037-1038. It is undisputed that an agreement to settle occurred in <u>Gulfport Pilots</u>, unlike in the case at bar, and the disputed issues surrounding the method of funding for plaintiff's settlement.

Secondly, ICRC has omitted an important piece of the Majority Opinion in <u>Gulfport</u> <u>Pilots</u> – "[w]hen the employer and employee reach a settlement it becomes enforceable against the parties to the lawsuit. How the employer intends to satisfy the settlement amount is immaterial to the employee's claim under the settlement." <u>Id.</u> at 1040. In the Dissenting Opinion, readily cited by ICRC herein, Justices Southwick and Coleman joined Chief Justice McMillin's position that a hearing was necessary. ICRC's reliance on the dicta of the *dissenting opinion* should not be given any weight in this appellate setting. (Emphasis added). The <u>Gulfport Pilots</u> dissent does not cite to any case law to support the contention that an evidentiary hearing should have been conducted to determine the method of settlement in the <u>Gulfport Pilots</u> case. To assume otherwise is incorrect and misleading.

Most important to the determination of whether an evidentiary hearing should have been conducted in the instant case is a portion of the holding from <u>Illinois Central Railroad Company</u> <u>v. McDaniel, et al.</u>, 951 So.2d 523 (Miss. 2006). While <u>McDaniel</u> is a landmark case related to many issues of settlement with ICRC, it also stands for the proposition that an evidentiary hearing is not necessary in an instance such as this. <u>Id.</u> at 529. There, counsel for ICRC complained that the trial court did not make any findings of fact and conclusions of law on which to rely. In lieu of an evidentiary hearing, according to the Mississippi Supreme Court, a trial court may make findings on the record similar to and sufficient for any formalized findings of fact and conclusions of law. The <u>McDaniel</u> court said:

"In this case, the circuit court made several findings on the record regarding its decision to deny ICRR's motion. Moreover, these findings are sufficiently situated as to allow this Court to make its own findings. In accordance with the circuit court's on-the-record findings, we find the circuit court did not abuse its discretion when it denied ICRR's motion. Thus, this issue is without merit."

<u>Id</u>. at 529.

Much like the <u>McDaniel</u> holding, many findings of fact were put on the record by the trial court over the course of various hearings. Two hearings were conducted – November 6, 2006 and September 27, 2007 – wherein the trial court opined on many issues and also decided many issues of fact. Attorneys for both parties attended the hearings, including Mr. Peters himself, and the trial court was availed of an opportunity to hear both sides of the story as it related to disputed issues of fact. Similarly, both Mr. Peters and Mr. Peirce submitted various affidavits pursuant to this litigation, describing their understanding of the settlement discussions. (R.E. 168-186) ICRC had not complained of the lack of and/or need for an evidentiary hearing until this late juncture. It is not as if ICRC had asked for an evidentiary hearing and was denied

that opportunity. To the contrary, two separate hearings were held relative to these settlements. Those hearings were quite lengthy and allowed each party to submit their positions, virtually without interruption, and explain to the trial court the situation at hand. (R.E. 15-71, 72-146). Had ICRC wished to discover further information from Mr. Peirce, a deposition might have been scheduled. No deposition was ever scheduled, and ICRC was content to garner Mr. Peirce's side of the story from his three affidavits until this time.

At the November 6, 2006 hearing relative to this matter, counsel for ICRC admitted that he did not want to stipulate to have the trial court judge sit as a chancellor and decide findings of fact and conclusions of law. The following exchange occurred:

MR. BECKHAM: If I may, plaintiff cited one case, the McDaniel case. There is a very important difference between the issue in McDaniel and the issue here, and that is this. Even though we're dealing with the issue of prior releases and terms of settlement, that is, in that case, we stipulated that the circuit court judge could be a finder of disputed facts. When we had a hearing like this one, we made that stipulation in that case.

THE COURT: You won't let me do that.

MR. BECKHAM: Knowing where we were, you would understand.

(R.E. 68-69).

However, at this juncture, ICRC complains that there was no proper evidentiary hearing held in order to discuss factual discrepancies related to this issue. ICRC should not be permitted to complain that no proper evidentiary hearing was held when they refused to stipulate to such at the two prior hearings involved in this matter. ICRC has waived its ability to claim that the trial court erred in not ordering an evidentiary hearing to elucidate the factual issues and legal disputes surrounding this case. Be it as it may, it appears that it was ICRC's inability and unwillingness to enter into a stipulation to permit the trial court to sit as chancellor that has now come back to hurt their position. ICRC also cites to the case of <u>Mass. Casualty Insurance Co. v. Forman</u>, 469 F.2d 259, 260 (5th Cir.1972) in support of its contention that some type of evidentiary hearing is required before a court enforces a settlement agreement. However, the type of hearing ICRC is calling for has already occurred – twice. Members of both parties availed themselves to the court for two hearings. Both hearings focused on general issues surrounding the Motion to Enforce Settlement at issue.

In sum, because the trial court acted within its discretion to sit as chancellor, ICRC's argument that plaintiffs' Motion should be treated as a Motion for Summary Judgment must fail. Similarly, once the court properly decided to act as chancellor, ICRC, if it desired an evidentiary hearing, should have asked for one. It failed to do so, and as such, any argument that an evidentiary hearing was necessary comes far too late, and has been waived.

III. The plaintiffs have proved by a preponderance of the evidence that there was a meeting of the minds between the parties; therefore, the trial court's decision to enforce the settlements was not erroneous

a. Standard of Review

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